707388

70738-8

RECEIVED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE DEC 17 2013

NO. 70738-8

# COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFF KIRBY and PUGET SOUND SECURITY PATROL, INC. Appellants-Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY, Respondent.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

ROCKE | LAW GROUP, PLLC Aaron V. Rocke, WSBA #31525 101 Yesler Way, Suite 603 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206)652-8670

####

II.	Assignments of Error		
III.	Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error		
IV.	Statement of the Case		
	A.	Security services require close working relationships with law enforcement	
	B.	Ms. Black made an offensive statement to her client regarding law enforcement	
	C.	ESD and OAH allowed benefits but prohibited employer from presenting its case	
	1.	The judge limited cross-examination on material facts.11	
	2.	The ALJ prevented the employer from testing the claimant's knowledge of the Facebook privacy settings.	
	D.	The ALJ's findings of fact are self-contradictory and unsupported by evidence	
	E.	Finding of Fact No. 13 is clearly erroneous	
	F.	Conclusion of Law No. 10 is not supported by the record	
V.	Argu	ment	
	A.	Standard of Review	
	B.	The ALJ committed legal error	
	1.	Misconduct is defined by statute	

	2.	The Department erred in determining that Ms. Black did not commit misconduct
	3.	The Department erred in finding insufficient nexus 29
	4.	The Department erred in requiring specific intent to harm
	5.	The Department erred in concluding that the social-media policy was not known to Ms. Black
	C.	Findings of Fact are unsupported and indefensible 36
	D.	Puget Sound Security was denied its due process 37
VI.	Conc	elusion

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### **Washington Cases**

Baxter v. Jones, 34 Wn. App. 1 (1983)
Dermond v. Employment Sec. Dep't, 89 Wn. App. 128 (1997)
Griffith v. State Dept. of Emp't Security, 163 Wn. App. 1 (2011) 32, 33
Hamel v. Emp't Sec. Dept., 93 Wn. App. 140 (1998)
Henson v. Employment Security Department, 113 Wn.2d at 377 24
Nelson v. Emp't Security Dept., 98 Wn.2d 370 (1982)
Smith v. Employment Security Department, 155 Wn. App. 24 (2010) 24, 35
State v. York, 28 Wn. App. 33 (1980)
Tapper v. Employment Security Department, 122 Wn.2d 397 (1993) 24, 25
Tassoni v. Department of Retirement Systems, 108 Wn. App. 77, 84, 29
P.3d 63 (2001)24
Willener v. Sweeting, 107 Wn.2d 388 (1986)
Other Cases
United States v. Abel, 469 U.S. 45, 52, 105 S.Ct. 465, 83 L.Ed.2d 450
(1984)
Wright v. Commonwealth, 404 A.2d 792 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1979) 26
Statutes
RCW 18.170.170

RCW 18.235.130(4)
RCW 34.05.510
RCW 34.05.558
RCW 34.05.570(3)
RCW 50.01.010
RCW 50.04.294
RCW 50.04.294(1)(b)
RCW 50.04.294(2)(g)
RCW 50.20.066(1)
RCW 50.32.120
Other Authorities
76 Am.Jur.2d, Unemployment Compensation §85
Regulations
WAC 192-150-200
WAC 192-150-200(1)
WAC 192-150-200(2)
WAC 192-150-210(4)
WAC 192-150-210(5)
WAC 308-18-305(e)(iii)

#### I. Introduction

Claimant Sarah Black was employed as a security guard by Puget Sound Security Patrol, and was assigned to guard a client that served and hosted law enforcement. While apparently off duty, she wrote to her client and others that, when law enforcement officers are murdered in the line of duty, they get what they deserve.

When confronted, Ms. Black insisted that she had the right to say anything she wanted. Ms. Black was terminated. The department awarded unemployment benefits. The superior court called this comment "outrageous" and indefensible, but it affirmed unemployment benefits. <sup>1</sup>

The Initial Order (attached as **Exhibit 1**) found that Ms. Black

(1) did not harm or (2) intend to harm her employer, and that (3) the
writing was not work-related. However, the key findings were
unsupported by the evidence and applied the wrong legal standards. First,
the finding that she did not harm the employer's intangible interests is
unsupported by the evidence, and the legal standard is met if she merely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The superior court asked if it was clear that she knew that one of her Facebook friends was a TPU employee, and "knowing who she was talking to, she knew or should have known it would get back," then "I think I can reverse." VRP 29. The parties submitted the attached Joint Statement of Evidence post-hearing (**Exhibit 2**). However, the superior court misunderstood the law by saying that it was not able to find facts if the ALJ was silent on a fact, VRP 29-30, so it affirmed benefits.

created the potential for such harm. It actually found that the writing had the potential to harm the employer, but it said there was not harm because the employer fired the claimant! Second, the finding that she did not intend for her client to see the posting conflicts with other findings and is unsupported by the record. Also, the correct legal standard is met if she showed carelessness or negligence to such a degree as to substantially disregard the employer's interests. This standard was not considered. Third, the finding that the writing was not work-related is erroneous, because the writing harmed or had the potential to harm her employer's intangible interests. Alternatively, the employer was prevented from cross-examining the claimant on foundation for her motivation, her opinions, and her interest in the outcome of the hearing.

Of the challenged findings, we expect the department will either concede error or choose not to brief all but one of the issues. Once the facts are consistent with the record and the law applied correctly, this court should find misconduct and reverse the decision awarding benefits. In the alternative, it should remand to cure the numerous procedural and evidentiary defects in the administrative hearing.

#### II. Assignments of Error

- The Employment Security Department erred in awarding benefits to claimant Sarah Black by finding that she did not commit misconduct as defined in RCW 50.04.294.
- The Employment Security Department erred in concluding that
   Ms. Black's conduct was not work-related. (Concl. 10).
- The Employment Security Department erred in considering claimant Sarah Black's motivations for acting as she did.
- The Employment Security Department erred in concluding that the claimant did not know the employer's rules encompassed social media and off-duty conduct.
- 5. The Employment Security Department's findings of fact that claimant Sarah Black did not intend her actions to be communicated to her employer's client (Finding 3, 5, 13), and did not cause harm to the employer (Finding 13, Concl. 10), and any harm was caused by the employer (Finding 13) are unsupported by the evidence.
- 6. The Employment Security Department deprived the petitioner of its due process right to cross-examine the claimant on issues central to the Department's adjudication of the matter, which implicates several Findings of Fact and claimant's credibility.

#### III. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Whether an employee commits disqualifying misconduct under RCW 50.04.294 when she insults or offends her employer's clients and guests, where the client is in the audience, where the employer has clearly communicated its expectations of professionalism, and where the writing harms or has the potential to harm the employer's intangible interests?
- 2. Whether the department erred in considering the claimant's motivations and intent in posting the offending message where motive is not relevant and the writing was negligent to such degree as to substantially disregard her employer's interests?
- 3. Whether the department erred in concluding that the claimant's actions were not work-related when it caused harm or possible harm to the employer's intangible interests because the writing related to the client's guests, harmed the employer's relationship with its client and law enforcement, and harmed employee morale?
- 4. Whether the claimant was or should have been aware that her employer's professionalism policy and state training standards apply to social media?
- Whether the finding of fact that the claimant did not intend for the client to see the incendiary posting is material and supported when it is

undisputed that she intentionally made the posting, that she affirmatively chose who could see the posting, and that she chose to allow a client's employee to see the posting?

- 6. Whether firing an employee who offends a client prevents a finding of harm to the employer?
- 7. Whether the ALJ committed reversible error when it denied the petitioner the right to cross-examine the claimant on issues of her intent in making the incendiary posting, her knowledge and understanding of Facebook's security settings, and her interest in the outcome of the hearing?

#### IV. Statement of the Case

#### A. Security guards work closely with law enforcement.

Puget Sound Security Patrol is a local, small business providing private security. Security firms supplement law enforcement. They relieve people from anxiety and fear of lost or damaged property, injury, and other threats. The role of private security involves communicating and cooperating with law enforcement.

Because the job of a security guard overlaps with that of law enforcement, and because the nature of the job may render a security guard or her client in need of help, it is important for a security company to have good relations with law enforcement. A security guard must form positive relationships with law enforcement, and be their eyes and ears.<sup>2</sup>

The Tacoma Public Utilities<sup>3</sup> is Puget Sound Security's client. The building occupied by Tacoma Power housed the human resources department for the city of Tacoma, which served local law enforcement. CR 52. Law enforcement frequents the site as the invited guest of Puget Sound Security's client.

Puget Sound Security extensively trains its security guards on principles of professionalism and respect to the public. CR 103. It trains and provides written rules and expectations to emphasize these principles. Its rules include being professional and courteous, avoiding insensitive or negative communications to clients' employees, avoiding impairing the relationship between Puget Sound Security and its clients, and being courteous to all client representatives, employees, visitors, customers, and the public. CR 211-216. In addition, because of the unique nature of Tacoma Power, additional ethical rules are in place for guards stationed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This is so central to the position of security guard that it is one of the six topics taught to all security guards during pre-assignment training, as well as post-assignment and refresher training. WAC 308-18-305(e)(iii). See also CR 302-03. Citations to the Commissioner's Record are abbreviated as "CR."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Tacoma Public Utilities d/b/a Tacoma Power may be referred to as TPU, and mistakenly as in the record as TCU.

there. For example, "All words and conduct that [are] harassing, rude, discourteous, discriminatory, negative, uncalled-for, overly aggressive, abusive or unprofessional towards *anyone* is strictly prohibited at the TPU worksites." CR 208. These rules are construed in favor of accepted canons of decency and professionalism. "The sure standard of conduct to follow is [not to] say or do *anything* that would or could be perceived to violate this Ethical Directive, or which doesn't contribute positively to the TPU security mission at the particular site you are assigned." CR 209.

Ms. Black was informed of and acknowledged these policies. CR 307-08 (FOF 9-11); CR 135 (acknowledging rule to be courteous and professional applied to police officers), 231.

#### B. Ms. Black offended her client by disparaging its guests.

On February 23, 2012, in a well-publicized tragedy, a Washington State Patrol trooper was shot and killed during a traffic stop. CR 278. In response, Ms. Black wrote the following comment, stating that the trooper deserved it:

u kno wat, I do not give a fuck about a police officer that got shot, if they quit fuckin with ppl, ppl prolly quit shootin em all the goddamn time.....karmas a bitch.

CR 306 (FOF 2).

In the words of the superior court judge, "I think as a matter of law, these remarks are despicable." VRP 5. The court went on to say that the remarks "cannot be supported in any reasonable context," and "I find that – the remarks horrific," *Id.* and "outrageous." VRP 29. The department agrees that the statement was "offensive and despicable." VRP 15.

The comment was posted on Facebook. CR 306 (FOF 4).<sup>4</sup> One of her Facebook friends was an employee of Tacoma Public Utilities. *Id.*; CR 135, 148, 153-54, 155. That employee forwarded the posting as a matter of some concern to the TPU Customer Services, who brought it to the attention of Puget Sound Security Patrol. CR 306 (FOF 4); CR 233, 245 (client forwarding "a statement from Facebook, from whom I believe works as a security at your facility. It is extremely concerning.") The client was also "very concerned that someone with such disregard for" life, or "respect for law enforcement officers would be employed here," CR 61, and "was horrified that [the employer] had an employee that would say things like that about police officers." CR 59-60. Ms. Black's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> An excerpt of Ms. Black's cross examination at CR 135:

Q: Being courteous and professional applied not just to the client, but that client's guests?

A: Yeah.

Q: Some of TPU's guests included police officers?

A: Yes.

Q: When you made the post on Facebook, that was intentional, right?

A: Yes.

supervisor was "shocked, embarrassed and – and disgusted." CR 158. Her co-workers felt similarly. *Id.* The supervisor testified, "Everybody was shocked, but there were some that were more visibly ... disgusted and embarrassed by it." CR 161.

#### C. Ms. Black meant what she said.

The Initial Order found that Ms. Black wrote her statement because she "thought another shooting was more important." (FOF 3). The finding relies exclusively on the claimant's testimony. When asked why she made the post in the first place, she testified, "It was my personal feeling upon reading the news that day and I was just saddened by the fact that something like that would get more attention than other things that I felt were important." CR 132. In light of all the evidence, no reasonable trier of fact could find that her motivation for the initial post was sadness about the other shooting.

Ms. Black had been stopped by law enforcement, including being cited for driving under the influence. CR 146. She did not think she should have been stopped. CR 146. She testified, "I am continually harassed by police officers all the time." CR 144.

When asked if she meant to communicate that if the police would stop acting improperly, people would stop shooting them, Ms. Black testified, "(Inaudible) if they would keep (sic) harassing people for no reason, they

would probably not get shot at so much." CR 147. She did not answer whether the comment could be read as intended. CR 148. However, she agreed that the phrase, "Karma is a bitch," was a point of emphasis.

CR 147-48. Instead of basing findings on this evidence, finding three was, "She did not think it was fair that the shooting of the officer received a lot of press coverage, while the shooting of a young girl did not." (FOF 3).

This finding was apparently relied upon to deny the claimant's intent to harm her employer.

Ms. Black was confronted by her supervisor. CR 306-07 (FOF 6-7). She admitted making the statement, *id.*, and already knew which of her friends forwarded the comment. CR 148, 246. The employer reminded her that company work rules require professionalism and courtesy, and that her job required a good working relationship with law enforcement. CR 308. Ms. Black expressed neither regret nor remorse for her statement. CR 158. Rather than expressing regret or remorse, rather than expressing that she did not intend to harm her employer or offend the client, she was unapologetic. CR 306 (FOF 6). She was asked by her own supervisor if she knew that her supervisor, the CEO, and the owner of the company were all retired or former police officers. CR 246. Rather than express regret or apologize, she responded that she could not be fired for her opinions. *Id.* She testified, "Q: Did you say anything with regard to your

right to post things on Facebook [to your supervisor]? A: ... I said, "I have the right to say whatever I want." CR 149; see also CR 157 (claimant insisted on right to free speech), 158 (no assurances it would not happen again). Ms. Black was terminated.

#### D. The employer was prohibited from presenting its case.

The claimant applied for and was awarded unemployment benefits by the Employment Security Department. CR 187. The employer appealed to the Office of Administrative Hearings, which affirmed the decision. CR 311. The Administrative Law Judge made a number of rulings that limited the employer's ability to present its case. The Commissioner adopted the ALJ's Initial Order. CR 324-25. A correct application of the law regarding misconduct and the rules of evidence would have resulted in the denial of benefits.

#### 1. The judge limited cross-examination.

The Administrative Law Judge prevented cross-examination of the claimant on two central issues: her state of mind about the statement, and her foundation to testify about privacy settings.

First, the ALJ prevented cross-examination on the claimant's understanding of and intention regarding her offending statement, after allowing the claimant to explain the circumstances for making the statement that included a comparison to a different news story neither

11

offered as evidence nor previously mentioned by the claimant. CR 142.

The Initial Order adopted the uncorroborated testimony on her state of mind, which conflicted with her own testimony, the employer's testimony, and logic, while protecting the claimant from cross examination. CR 306 (FOF 3).

The ALJ found as fact that the claimant "did not think it was fair that the shooting of the officer received a lot of press coverage, while the shooting of a young girl at school did not." CR 306 (FOF 3). This finding is unsupportable. The claimant testified to having been "continually harassed" by law enforcement, and had been ticketed for a DUI. CR 144. She also agrees that she meant what she said. CR 147. The comment demonstrates animus toward law enforcement and its actions in "fuckin with ppl" and does not refer in any sense to a school shooting. It is absurd and offensive to say that the lack of media coverage about a tragic death of a child was the motivation to say that murdered police officers get what they deserve. The judge adopted the claimant's testimony about the content of the newspaper as well as her state of mind in writing the offending post and deemed it relevant, 5 but restricted cross-examination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Puget Sound Security takes the position that Ms. Black's subjective purpose or intent in insulting its client is not relevant to the issue of whether she violated reasonable expectations, carelessly or negligently

regarding the statement and the exploration of the newspaper articles.

This court should strike that finding.

## 2. The ALJ prevented the employer from testing the claimant's knowledge of Facebook privacy settings.

Over objection, the claimant was allowed to testify to her opinion that her Facebook privacy setting is currently set to "just friends." CR 131. She was asked about the posting and her privacy settings. *Id.* Ms. Black said the post was still on her Facebook account, but she could not find it. CR 136.

In Finding of Fact No. 4, the judge found that the "claimant had set her Facebook privacy level so that her blog postings were only accessible to the approximately 100 people designated as her friends on Facebook." CR 306 (FOF 4). The claimant had exclusive control, yet did not offer evidence of her privacy settings, such as a screenshot or other document, to which she has exclusive access. In her testimony, she stated her opinion in a conclusory fashion without regard to a specific time in which the privacy settings were established or specifically how. CR 131. Yet, on cross examination she was unable to answer rudimentary questions about either Facebook or the Internet that someone who could reliably inform

harmed the employer's interests, or violated a reasonable company rule. But if it is relevant, we should have the right to cross examine her on it and have the decision maker find facts that are supported by the evidence.

13

the tribunal as to privacy settings and their effect would have been able to answer. CR 131; CR 136-37. She also agreed that she is not an expert on Facebook, (CR 136), and her lawyer objected that she did not have foundation to answer. *Id.*; CR 140. The ALJ cut off questions about the claimant's understanding of Facebook's privacy settings. CR 141. She was asked, CR 136-137, about privacy settings and the judge sustained an objection to foundation; she didn't know enough to answer:

Q: ... You are not an expert about Facebook?

A: [inaudible] No.

Q: Let me ask you about the account settings. Facebook account settings and their policies have changed over the years, right?

A: I do not know.

\*\*\*

Q: So as far as you know from the beginning of time of Facebook, they have only had one account set and privacy setting? Mr. Malden [attorney for Ms. Black]: Objection. No foundation. Irrelevance.

[sustained]

\*\*\*

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