NO. 70738-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFF KIRBY, AN INDIVIDUAL, and PUGET SOUND SECURITY PATROL, INC.,

Appellants,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT SECURITY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

APRIL BENSON BISHOP, WSBA # 40766 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for Respondent OID #91020 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104

Phone: (206) 464-7676 Fax: (206) 389-2800

E-mail: LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov

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

The cases cited by Puget Sound Security to argue that Black's intent in making the Facebook post is irrelevant are inapposite because they did not address the question of whether off-duty conduct was work-connected. *Griffith v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, 163 Wn. App. 1, 259 P.3d 1111 (2011) (employee's offensive comments made to customer while performing deliveries was misconduct); *Hamel v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 93

Wn. App. 140, 966 P.2d 1282 (1998) (waiter's inappropriate comments made to coworkers and customers while at work was misconduct). Instead, they address whether on-duty conduct met the statutory definition of misconduct. Whether the employees' conduct was work-connected was not at issue in those cases. *See Griffith*, 163 Wn. App. 1; *Hamel*, 93 Wn. App. 140. In contrast, *Nelson* addresses whether a claimant's off-duty conduct is connected with her work, and the Supreme Court specifically requires that a claimant's conduct be done with "intent or knowledge that the employer's interests would suffer" for it to be work-connected. *Nelson*, 98 Wn.2d at 375.

The Commissioner correctly concluded that Puget Sound Security did not establish, by a preponderance of evidence, that a reasonable person would find that Black's post was "done with intent or knowledge that the employer's interest would suffer." *Nelson*, 98 Wn.2d at 375.

As the Commissioner stated, the Department "does not question the employer's right to discharge the claimant, nor the wisdom of that act." AR 310 (CL 11); see Tapper, 122 Wn.2d at 412 (an employer's decision to discharge an employee is distinct from the Department's decision to grant or deny unemployment benefits). But because Black's private, off-duty Facebook statement was conduct that was not connected with her work, the Commissioner correctly concluded that she was not

disqualified from receiving benefits under RCW 50.20.066(1). The Court should affirm.

B. The Commissioner Correctly Concluded That Puget Sound Security Did Not Establish That Black's Actions Met the Statutory Definition of Misconduct

Because Black's conduct was not connected with her work, she is not disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits under RCW 50.20.066(1), and the Court does not need to address whether her conduct amounted to misconduct under RCW 50.04.294. However, even if the Court reaches this inquiry, Black is still eligible for benefits because her conduct did not amount to statutory misconduct under the Act.

Misconduct is defined as:

- (a) Willful or wanton disregard of the rights, title, and interests of the employer or a fellow employee;
- (b) Deliberate violations or disregard of standards of behavior which the employer has the right to expect of an employee;
- (c) Carelessness or negligence that causes or would likely cause serious bodily harm to the employer or a fellow employee; or
- (d) Carelessness or negligence of such degree or recurrence to show an intentional or substantial disregard of the employer's interest.

RCW 50.04.294(1).

The statute also identifies numerous acts as *per se* misconduct. RCW 50.04.294(2); *Daniels v. Dep't of Emp't Sec.*, 168 Wn. App. 721, 728, 281 P.3d 310 (2012) ("Certain types of conduct are misconduct per se."). These acts are deemed misconduct "because the acts signify a willful or wanton disregard of the rights, title, and interests of the employer or a fellow employee." RCW 50.04.294(2).

Puget Sound Security argues that Black's Facebook post violated a known company rule, was in deliberate disregard of a standard of behavior which her employer had a right to expect, and was in careless disregard of Puget Sound Security's interest. Br. Appellant at 26-29; RCW 50.04.294(1)(b), (1)(d), (2)(f). The Court should not be persuaded by these arguments.

1. Black Was Not Discharged for Violating a Known, Reasonable Company Rule

One type of *per se* misconduct is a "[v]iolation of a company rule if the rule is reasonable and if the claimant knew or should have known of the existence of the rule." RCW 50.04.294(2)(f). "A company rule is reasonable if it is related to [the claimant's] job duties, is a normal business requirement or practice for [the claimant's] occupation or industry, or is required by law or regulation." WAC 192-150-210(4).

As discussed above, Puget Sound Security did not have any social media policies or guidelines in place at the time of Black's Facebook post. AR at 65, 89-90, 105, 130, 307 (FF 8). To the extent Puget Sound Security asserts that its rules requiring professionalism, courtesy, and respect govern employees' off-duty, off-site conduct, they are not reasonable. Therefore, Black did not violate a reasonable company rule that she knew or should have known. RCW 50.04.294(2)(f).

Puget Sound Security insists that these rules were reasonable because Black was "assigned to protect . . . law enforcement" and because of an important relationship between security officers and law enforcement. Br. Appellant at 28. But these factors were not included in the Commissioner's findings of fact, nor does Puget Sound Security point to evidence in the record supporting these propositions. This Court may not substitute its judgment of the facts for that of the agency and must limit its review to the agency record. RCW 34.05.570(3)(e); RCW 34.05.558; *Tapper*, 122 Wn.2d at 403. And, in the absence of a finding on a factual issue, the court must presume that the party with the burden of proof failed to sustain their burden on that issue. *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 14, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997). Moreover, Puget Sound Security has failed to show how it is reasonable to regulate the off-duty speech of an hourly security guard.

2. Black Did Not Deliberately Violate or Disregard a Standard of Behavior Which Puget Sound Security Has the Right to Expect of an Employee

Puget Sound Security argues that Black's private speech was a deliberate violation or disregard of a standard of behavior that the employer had the right to expect of her. Br. Appellant at 28; RCW 50.04.294(1)(b). Puget Sound Security certainly had a right to expect and require courteous, professional behavior of its employees at the worksite. See, e.g., Hamel, 93 Wn. App. 140. But for the reasons discussed above, Puget Sound Security had no reasonable right to expect Black to restrict her own expression of personal opinions, in a private forum, when off duty. Similarly, the record does not support the conclusion that Black deliberately disregarded any standard of the Puget Sound Security's.

The Commissioner recently addressed this aspect of the definition of misconduct in *In re Jeremy Owens*, Emp't Sec. Comm'r Dec.2d 989 (2012). Owens worked at a camera repair shop and believed that a coworker had damaged his personal camera at the workplace. *Id.* (FF I). Owens reported the damage to his employer, but the employer was unable to verify Owens's accusations and informed Owens that the shop's insurance would not cover the damage. *Id.* (FF I-II). Owens expressed his frustration with the situation on his Facebook page. *Id.* (FF III). He expressly complained about his boss and the accused coworker and made

disparaging comments about the work ethic of the shop's employees, which he attributed to the employer. *Id.* (FF III). Another employee saw Owens's Facebook posts and informed the employer. *Id.* (FF IV). In contrast to Black's privacy settings here, Owens's posts were not limited to a private audience of Facebook "friends," and the employer was able to access and read the posts and responses. *Id.* The employer discharged Owens.

Recognizing that an employer at least "has the right to expect that employees will not make public disparaging comments regarding the employer or the employer's business, whether on or off duty," the Commissioner concluded that Owens violated or disregarded a standard of behavior which the employer had the right to expect of its employees. *Id.* (CL I-III). In sum, the Commissioner concluded that Owens "used a public forum to discredit his employer and the employer's staff," so misconduct was established. *Id.* (CL III-IV).

In contrast here, Black did not make public disparaging comments about her employer or the employer's business. Her Facebook posts were restricted to her friends and she did not mention or reference her employer, her employer's client(s), or any coworkers. Unlike the employer in *Owens*, Puget Sound Security did not establish any particular

standard of behavior that it had the right to expect of its employees, whether on or off duty. Puget Sound Security did not establish misconduct in this regard.

3. Black's Conduct Did Not Constitute Carelessness of Such Degree or Recurrence to Show an Intentional or Substantial Disregard of the Puget Sound Security's Interest

To establish misconduct under RCW 50.04.294(1)(d), an employer must prove the claimant's conduct constituted "[c]arelessness or negligence of such degree or recurrence to show an intentional or substantial disregard of the employer's interest." RCW 50.04.294(1)(d). "Carelessness" and "negligence" mean failure to exercise the care that a reasonably prudent person usually exercises. WAC 192-150-205(3).

Puget Sound Security does not explain how Black's Facebook post was of "such degree or recurrence to show an intentional or substantial disregard" of its interest. Puget Sound Security simply asserts that Black's conduct was misconduct under RCW 50.04.294(1)(d) because she was careless, caused embarrassment and damage, and did not show remorse when confronted. Br. Appellant at 29. But a reasonably prudent person would not assume that a private Facebook post expressing a personal opinion, without mentioning or referencing her employer, coworkers, or the employer's client, would have any possible effect on her employer's

interest. While Black may not have exercised care in making the statement generally, Puget Sound Security did not show that she considered, then disregarded, Puget Sound Security's interest when choosing her words. In fact, Black testified that she believed her statement "had absolutely nothing to do with my job." AR at 131, 133.

Black's conduct did not amount to statutory misconduct under the Act. The Court should affirm.

C. The ALJ Did Not Deprive Puget Sound Security of Due Process in Sustaining Objections That Limited the Scope of Its Cross-Examination

Puget Sound Security argues that the ALJ committed reversible error in limiting the scope of its cross-examination of Black. Br. Appellant at 11-16, 37-38. The Commissioner correctly concluded that there was no error in this regard. AR at 316-17, 324.

While cross-examination is an integral part of both criminal and civil proceedings, its availability is not unlimited. *Baxter v. Jones*, 34 Wn. App. 1, 3-4, 658 P.2d 1274 (1983). As the Court of Appeals has recognized:

Cross examination is, however, limited by other factors; it must pertain to matters within the scope of the direct examination and matters affecting the credibility of the witness. ER 611(b). It may be curtailed where the relevance of the evidence is outweighed by the danger of undue delay, waste of time or needless presentation of

cumulative evidence. ER 403. Further, the court has discretion to exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of interrogating witnesses to avoid needless consumption of time. ER 611(a)(2).

Id.

Decisions regarding the scope of cross-examination are left to the sound discretion of the trial court. *Falk v. Keene Corp.*, 53 Wn. App. 238, 250, 767 P.2d 576, *aff'd*, 113 Wn.2d 645, 782 P.2d 974 (1989). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *Id.* at 247 (citing *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971)).

In the present case, the ALJ appropriately limited Puget Sound Security's cross-examination of Black. The burden was on Puget Sound Security to show that it discharged Black for disqualifying misconduct. *Nelson*, 98 Wn.2d at 374-75; *In re Verner*, Emp't Sec. Comm'r Dec. 617. Additionally, the conduct at issue in any misconduct case is the action or behavior that resulted in the employee's discharge. WAC 192-150-200(1); *Safeco Ins. Cos. v. Meyering*, 102 Wn.2d 385, 392-93, 687 P.2d 195 (1984) (the Act "requires that the Department analyze the facts of each case to determine what actually caused the employee's separation").

Here, the action or behavior that resulted in Black's discharge was her private Facebook post, which was made known to Puget Sound Security through its customer service contact at TPU after one of Black's Facebook friends copied it into an email to TPU. AR at 23-24, 131, 194 95, 233, 306-07 (FF 4-7). Puget Sound Security presented no evidence to show that Black's private speech had otherwise been made public or known to anyone outside of Black's Facebook friends.

In cross-examining Black, however, counsel for Puget Sound Security asked questions about her knowledge of the history of Facebook's privacy settings, the meaning of "www," and the general distribution of internet postings. AR at 136-40. Black's attorney objected, citing lack of foundation and irrelevance. AR at 136-37, 140. The ALJ sustained the objections, explaining that she had "not heard any evidence from the Employer that the information on – from this posting was publicized or came to anybody's eyes other than through apparently when a person who was a friend on Facebook brought it to the attention of the client who brought it to the attention of the Employer." AR at 140-41; see also AR at 136-38. Given that there was no evidence of the post being available online beyond Black's Facebook friends, the ALJ explained, "there is no basis for this broad, somewhat academic discussion of the functioning of the Internet, as far as I can tell." AR at 141. The ALJ then asked counsel to re-focus the questioning on the basis of Puget Sound Security's decision to discharge Black. *Id*.

Because Puget Sound Security had the burden to establish that it had discharged Black for disqualifying misconduct, and the only conduct at issue was the conduct for which Puget Sound Security actually fired Black, the ALJ exercised appropriate discretion in sustaining the objections made to the scope of Puget Sound Security's cross-examination of Black about the nature of internet privacy. AR at 136-38, 140-41; *see Nelson*, 98 Wn.2d at 374-75 (employer's burden to establish misconduct); WAC 192-150-200(1) (conduct at issue is "The action or behavior that resulted in your discharge"). Puget Sound Security has not shown that the ALJ abused her discretion.

Additionally, Puget Sound Security argues that the ALJ deprived it of due process by limiting the scope of its cross-examination of Black regarding her potential bias. Puget Sound Security's counsel asked Black what was at stake for her in the hearing, and Black's counsel objected on grounds of "irrelevance." AR at 152. The ALJ sustained the objection, stating, "The hearing is about access to eligibility for benefits. That's a given." *Id.* Puget Sound Security's counsel responded, "Nothing further" and asked no additional questions. *Id.*

Though Puget Sound Security argues that it was precluded from cross-examining Black on a legitimate issue when the ALJ sustained this objection, the record shows that the ALJ was already aware of Black's interest in the outcome of the hearing. For that reason, the ALJ was within her discretion to conclude that any relevance of further discussing Black's interest was outweighed by the potential for wasting time or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. *See* ER 403. Additionally, given the ALJ's clear understanding of the circumstances, nothing precluded Puget Sound Security's counsel from arguing about Black's credibility and potential bias to the tribunal in closing argument. Puget Sound Security has not shown any error.

Finally, even if the ALJ erred in sustaining objections to the scope of Black's cross-examination, Puget Sound Security has not argued how it was prejudiced by the rulings. A trial court's improper limitation of cross-examination will not require reversal if no prejudice results from the error. *Falk*, 53 Wn. App. at 249.

VI. CONCLUSION

Black made an offensive statement on her private Facebook page while she was off-site and off-duty. The statement did not involve her job, Puget Sound Security, coworkers, or clients. Because Black's conduct was not connected with her work, she is not disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits. Even if her conduct was work-connected, it did not meet the statutory definition of misconduct. For the foregoing

reasons, the Department respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Commissioner's decision.